No. 48028-0-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II
2016 JAN 20 AM 11:19
STATE OF WASHINGTON
BY  DEPUTY

ENID DUNCAN, ET AL.,

APPELLANTS,

v.

CITY OF EDGEWOOD,

RESPONDENTS.

APPELLANTS STOKES AND REMPEL'S OPENING BRIEF

GORDON THOMAS HONEYWELL LLP
Margaret Y. Archer, WSBA No. 21224
Attorneys for Appellants 1999 Stokes
Family LLC and Eldean Rempel, as Trustee
for Revocable Trust Agreement of Ray E.
Rempel and Eldean B. Rempel Dated
December 12, 2006, a Trust, and Tina
Rempel

Suite 2100
1201 Pacific Avenue
Tacoma, WA 98401-1157
(253) 620-6500
WSBA No. 21224

ORIGINAL

[4823-9826-9739]

I. INTRODUCTION

This appeal involves Edgewood Sewer Local Improvement District (“LID”) No. 1, which was formed to construct certain sewer improvements intended to benefit 161 parcels of property within a 312-acre area. This is the second judicial appeal of the special assessments levied by the City of Edgewood to fund the LID sewer improvements. The parties to this consolidated appeal, who collectively own eleven of the 161 LID parcels, successfully challenged the first Assessment Roll approved by the Edgewood Council in 2011. This Court annulled the assessments levied against these eleven parcels in *Hasit, LLC v. City of Edgewood*, 179 Wn. App. 917, 320 P.3d 163 (2014).¹ Following the *Hasit* appeal, the City has collectively re-assessed the eleven parcels \$2,385,785. The re-assessment is the subject of this second consolidated judicial appeal.

This opening brief is presented by appellants 1999 Stokes Family LLC (“Stokes”) and Eldean Rempel, as Trustee for Revocable Trust Agreement of Ray E. Rempel and Eldean B. Rempel Dated December 12, 2006, a Trust, and Tina Rempel (“Rempel”). Stokes and Rempel own two of the eleven parcels within the LID subject to this appeal, Parcel Nos. 27

¹ A copy of the *Hasit* decision is in the Certified Administrative Record at bates stamp pages REF2014-000042 to REF2014-000078. Citations to the Administrative Record in this brief are denoted by AR followed by the last digits in the consecutively numbered bates stamps. Thus, citation to the *Hasit* decision as found in the Administrative Record is denoted as AR 42-78.

and 68, respectively. Of the \$2,385,785 total re-assessment levied against the eleven LID parcels, Edgewood assessed the Stokes 7.67-acre parcel (Parcel No. 27) \$379,315; it assessed the Rempel 7.22-acre parcel (Parcel No. 68) \$790,535. The assessments against just these two parcels comprise 49% of the re-assessment levied against all eleven parcels.

While a municipality may finance LID improvements by imposing special assessments against properties, the law imposes limitations on this power to levy assessments. First, “[i]t is the basic principal and very life of the doctrine of special assessments” that a municipality cannot assess a property unless it is “specially benefitted” by the new LID improvements. *In re Shilshole Avenue*, 85 Wash. 522, 537, 148 Pac. 781 (1915). Consistent with this basic principal, an assessment cannot substantially exceed the value of the special benefit attributable to the local improvements. Second, a municipality cannot assess any particular parcel more than its proportionate share of the total assessment relative to the other parcels in the LID.

Any assessment levied in violation of either of these two limitations constitutes a deprivation of property without due process of law. As a result, any municipality that endeavors to levy special assessments is statutorily charged to review the assessments, through its council or other designated body, as a Board of Equalization, and adjust

individual assessments as necessary to adhere to these basic and fundamental constitutional constraints.

Stokes and Rempel presented the Edgewood City Council with substantial evidence, including professionally prepared expert appraisals, that the assessments levied against their properties are both significantly in excess of the value of the special benefit to the properties and grossly disproportionate to assessments against other similarly situated properties within the LID. Despite this substantial evidence, and despite the recent guidance from this Court, the Council once again failed to fulfill its statutorily imposed duty to act as a Board of Equalization. The Council summarily confirmed all of the re-assessments without a single adjustment. It did so without explanation and without discussing, much less addressing Stokes and Rempel's specific and well-substantiated objections.

Pursuant to RCW 35.44.250, Stokes and Rempel request this Court to conclude that that, in light of the record and applicable law, the Council's action confirming the assessments was arbitrary and capricious. Also pursuant to RCW 35.44.250, Stokes and Rempel request this Court to correct and change their assessments so that they no longer exceed the value of the substantial benefit to their respective properties and are proportionate to similarly situated assessed properties. **Rempel requests**

the Court to reduce their assessment from \$790,535 to \$381,925, which is consistent with the actual special benefit value and proportionate to the other assessments. **Stokes requests this Court to reduce its assessment from \$379,315 to \$19,235**, which would make the assessment consistent with the City's treatment of another very similarly situated property, **but in any event no more than \$118,542**, as supported by the value of the special benefit determined by Stokes' professional appraiser.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND ISSUES PRESENTED

Rempel and Stokes assign error to the August 28, 2015 Judgment and Order of Dismissal through which the Honorable Katherine Stolz affirmed the October 15, 2015 Edgewood City Council's decision (as evidenced by its adoption of the appended Ordinance No. 14-0424) to affirm the Assessment Roll that is the subject of this appeal.

Rempel and Stokes also assign error to City Council decision. Though it does not appear that RAP 10.3 (h) requires separate assignments of error to the ordinance appealed pursuant to chapter 35.44 RCW, Rempel and Stokes assign error to the Council's decision to confirm the subject assessments as arbitrary and capricious as follows:

A. The Council improperly applied presumptions in favor of the reassessments recommended by its private appraiser. Stokes and Rempel presented credible evidence contrary to any favorable presumption

sufficient to shift the burden of proof to the City. But the Council failed to recognize the mandatory burden shifting and failed to place the burden of proof upon the City to establish that the assessments do not substantially exceed the special benefits and are ratable with assessments levied against similarly situated properties. The Council also improperly required the objecting property owners to establish that the reassessments are founded upon a fundamentally wrong basis.

B. The Council improperly applied the clear, cogent and convincing standard of proof to the objecting property owners to overcome presumptions favorable to the valuations and assessment roll recommended by the City's private appraiser.

C. The Council failed to act as a Board of Equalization. It failed to consider, address and apply evidence presented by Stokes and Rempel that establish that the Macaulay valuations were internally inconsistent and based upon incomplete, inaccurate and erroneous information, and the assessments are disproportionate to other similarly situated properties. The City did not meet its burden of proof to establish that the assessments recommended by the City's private appraiser do not exceed the special benefit and are ratable to other assessments. The Council failed to adjust the assessments as necessary to make the assessments ratable and no more than the special benefit to the properties.

D. The Council's Findings of Fact are insufficient to support the Council's Conclusions of Law.

In relation to the above, Stokes and Rempel assign error to the Council's Findings of Fact 5, 6, 7, 11, 12, 13, 14 and 16 as not supported by the substantial evidence in the record. They assign error to Conclusions of Law 1 through 5 and the Order as contrary to applicable law and unsupported by the Findings of Fact.

The assignments of error present the following issue:

Did the Council fail to fulfill its statutorily mandated role of a Board of Equalization and therefore act in an arbitrary and capricious manner when it improperly applied presumptions and evidentiary burdens and confirmed the Assessment Roll without adjustment to the assessments against Stokes and Rempel despite substantial evidence that that the assessments significantly exceeded the value of the special benefit conferred by the LID improvements and unanswered evidence that the assessments are grossly disproportionate to other assessments?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Edgewood's LID No. 1 was formed on October 14, 2008 by Ordinance No. 08-0306. (AR 17, 268-310.) The LID was formed for the purpose of constructing certain sewer improvements and distributing the cost of constructing the improvements to benefitted properties. (AR 9,

268-310.) The total land area within the LID is approximately 312 acres and is comprised of 161 parcels.²

A. Edgewood's First Assessment Roll And Its Failure To Fulfill Its Statutory Duty To Act As A Board Of Equalization.

The City retained the private appraisal company Macaulay & Associates, Ltd. ("Macaulay") to prepare the Final Special Benefit / Proportionate Assessment Study, a "mass appraisal" for the LID. The purpose of study was to determine the value of the special benefit to each LID parcel from the sewer improvements as a basis to allocate the sewer improvement costs. The total estimated cost associated with the sewer improvements, which the City sought to finance 100 percent through the LID, was \$21,238,268. (AR 244-45, 361-65.)

On July 19, 2011, the Edgewood City Council adopted the Assessment Roll for City of Edgewood LID No. 1 through Ordinance No. 11-0366. The Assessment Roll allocated the sewer improvement costs to the owners of the 161 parcels located within the previously formed LID. The Assessment Roll was adopted over the objections of ten property owners that timely submitted objections both to the Edgewood Hearing Examiner, who initially heard objections to the assessments, and then to

² Notably, though the LID was formed in response to a petition signed by several LID property owners, both Stokes and Rempel opposed and expressed concerns about the LID before it was formed. (AR 298.)

the Edgewood City Council.³ (AR 9, 3065-91.)

Nine property owners (including Stokes and Rempel), who collectively own twelve parcels within the LID, appealed the Council approved Assessment Roll to the Pierce County Superior Court. Judge John Hickman annulled the assessments levied against the appellants and remanded the matter for a new hearing consistent with certain direction from the court. (AR 9, 28; *Hasit, supra*, 179 Wn. App at 932.)

The City appealed. Following a *de novo* review of the Council's decision, this Court annulled the assessments levied against appellants on several grounds including that:

- The City denied the LID property owners, in violation of their due process rights, a meaningful opportunity to be heard because the hearing notice was both misleading and untimely; it did not allow the property owners sufficient time to obtain the type of evidence necessary to successfully lodge a challenge. *Hasit*, 179 Wn. App. at 952-53.
- Assessment Roll was made on a fundamentally wrong basis because the City improperly allocated to the property owners costs incurred for additional sewer capacity to serve future users outside the LID. Such capital costs for additional capacity did not specially benefit the LID properties, the. *Id.* at 940-41.
- The Council's confirmation and adoption of the Assessment Roll was arbitrary and capricious. The Council failed to appropriately consider the evidence presented by the objecting property owners and, as a result, the Council failed to fulfill its

³ The written objections that Stokes submitted to the Hearing Examiner and the Council in 2011 are at AR 2684-2732, 2811-33, 3015-33. Rempel's 2011 written objections are at AR 1967-75, 2751-65, 2766-70, 3035-43.

statutorily mandated roll as a Board of Equalization. *Id.* at 951. More specifically, the Council

- Improperly applied presumptions favorable to the Assessment Roll recommended by the City's retained private appraiser, failing to shift the burden of proof to the City (to demonstrate that the assessments do not exceed the special benefit to the properties and are ratable to other similarly situated properties) after the objecting property owners overcame the presumption by presenting credible evidence to the contrary. *Id.* at 949-50;
- Improperly required the objecting property owners to demonstrate that the assessments recommended by the City's hired appraiser were based upon a fundamentally wrong basis or that the assessments were arbitrary and capricious. *Id.* at 948-49;
- Improperly required the property owners to present expert appraisal testimony regarding the value of the properties before and after the sewer improvements were accepted. *Id.* at 945-47; and
- Failed to consider credible evidence presented that the assessments levied against the objecting property owners were disproportionate to similarly situated properties within the LID. *Id.* at 945.

Significant to this case, the *Hasit* Court explained the roll the Council must play when considering objections to LID assessments, and the proper manner in which evidence by objecting property owners must be considered, and also cautioned against affording undue deference to a report prepared by a private appraiser under contract:

Since a council or hearings officer considering an assessment roll sits as a board of equalization, these provisions disclose a legislative intent that it make a de novo determination while presuming the assessments to

be correct, constrained perhaps by the clear, cogent and convincing evidence standard. The heightened presumption of correctness carried by the fundamentally wrong basis and arbitrary and capricious standards contradicts this legislatively mandated role. Further, applying these elevated standards at the municipal hearing would afford unwarranted deference to a report prepared under contract by a private appraisal firm. For these reasons, the City erred in applying the fundamentally wrong basis and arbitrary and capricious standards in making its decision on the assessment roll.

Hasit, 179 Wn. App. at 949. This Court refrained from deciding “whether the clear, cogent and convincing standard for boards of equalization applies to municipal decisions on assessment rolls” for determining if objecting property owners successfully overcome any presumption afforded the recommended assessments. *Id.* at 949, n. 7. The Court also noted that the presumptions used “may be a question of little consequence” in light of the “burden-shifting commanded by *Bellevue Plaza*, 121 Wn.2d [397] 404, 851 P.2d 662 and *Indian Trail*, 35 Wn. App [840] at 843, 670 P.2d 675.” *Id.* at 950.

B. Edgewood’s Reassessment Against The Prevailing Property Owners And The Objections Presented By Stokes And Rempel.

After this Court annulled the assessments, the City began efforts to formulate reassessments for eleven of these LID parcels, owned by the eight parties that continued to participate in the appeal.⁴ The City

⁴ Hasit, LLC ceased participation after the Superior Court appeal was concluded.

determined that the cost attributable to the improperly assessed costs for over-sizing the sewer capacity was \$805,687. (AR 29, 122, 124-25.) The City again retained appraisal firm Macaulay and Associates to supplement the prior mass appraisal with additional Restricted Appraisals providing evaluations of the individual eleven LID parcels. (AR 29, 3095-3362.)

On June 22, 2014, the City notified the eight property owners of the reassessments that would be levied against their respective properties. (AR 29.) The assessments were reduced by \$408,557 from those originally levied against the properties in 2011; however, the substantial majority of the reductions were due to the removal of the eleven properties' proportionate share of the improperly allocated costs for over-sizing the sewer capacity. (AR 12, 21-26.) Though Stokes and Rempel (and some of the other prevailing property owners) had previously asserted that they were disproportionately assessed as compared to the actual special benefit received and as compared to assessments against other similarly situated property owners,⁵ the updated or new Macaulay analysis did not discuss, much less address these issues.⁶

The proposed reassessments presented for Council review were

⁵ See Stokes challenges at AR 2684-2732, 2811-33, 3015-33 and Rempel challenges at AR 1967-75, 2751-65, 2766-70, 3035-43.

⁶ See Macaulay's Restricted Appraisal on Stokes Property at AR 3134-63 and Macaulay's Restricted Appraisal on Rempel Property at AR 3221-3355.

exclusively founded upon the City's private appraiser's analysis. The City's staff did no independent analysis or review, but instead simply recommended confirmation of the Assessment Roll prepared by Macaulay "[b]ased upon the content" of his appraisal. (AR 30.)

On September 17, 2014, the City Council heard objections to the reassessments. (AR 2, 609-776.) All eight property owners, including Stokes and Rempel, participated in the hearing by presenting testimony from the owners as well as expert testimony. Stokes' written submittal, including sworn declarations, documentary evidence and a professionally prepared expert appraisal are at AR 868-998. Rempel's written submittal, including documentary evidence, a professionally prepared expert appraisal and a professionally prepared expert critique of the Macaulay valuation, is at AR 853-60, 999-1030, 1031-51. The transcript of September 17, 2014 hearing is at AR 609-776. Testimony specific to the Stokes Property is at AR 622, 641-42, 666-701, 756-57, 765-68. Testimony specific to the Rempel Property is at AR 623, 642, 712-24, 757-58, 761-62.

1. The Rempel Property (Parcel No. 68) And Rempel's Objections To The Reassessment.

Rempel owns the real property located at 1914 Meridian Avenue East, Edgewood, Washington and identified as Pierce County Tax Parcel

No. 0420091134 and LID Parcel 68 (“Rempel Property”). The Rempel Property is a long narrow parcel comprised of 314,360 square feet (7.22 acres). Only 193 feet of the property has frontage along Meridian. The entire Rempel Property is zoned Town Center (TC). It is improved with a mini-storage that produces a positive annual cash flow. (AR 1002-03.)

In 2011, the City appraiser opined that the value of the special benefit to the Rempel Property was \$1,115,000 and the City assessed the property \$877,005. (AR 225, 858.) In 2014, the City appraiser made no changes to the special benefit value. The City assessed the property \$790,535, reducing the assessment only to adjust for the improperly assessed costs associated with over-sizing the sewer system. (AR 3342.)

Rempel presented the Council with a professionally prepared appraisal that evidenced that the assessment is substantially greater than the value of the special benefit to the property. Independently, Rempel demonstrated, through Macaulay’s own appraisal and the analysis of another professional appraiser, that their assessment is grossly disproportionate to the assessments levied against another similarly situated property. The evidence Rempel presented, which is found in the record at AR 853-60, 999-1030, 1031-51 and 713-24, is discussed in more detail in the Argument section below, but generally included:

- An appraisal by MAI appraiser David Hunnicutt that the special benefit to the Rempel Property is only \$538,681. Based upon this special benefit valuation, the assessment should not exceed \$381,925. (AR 1000, 1026.)
- Macaulay applied a “before LID” value to the Rempel Property that is grossly disproportionate to other similarly situated LID properties. Macaulay’s “before LID” value for the Rempel Property 25% below the its assessed value and well below the range that Macaulay applied to other TC zoned properties (Macaulay applied \$3.50/sf to the Rempel Property, but determined that the range for TC properties in the LID should be \$4 to \$8/sf.) While Macaulay applied a lower “before LID” value on the Rempel Property than he applied on other TC-zoned property, he did not apply a lower “after LID” value, thus inflating the special benefit value. (AR 439, 1008, 3341.)
- MAI appraiser Donald Heishmann separately evaluated the Rempel Property valuation by Macaulay as compared to other similarly situated LID properties and determined that the Rempel valuation and assessment is an “outlier” and that the Rempel Property is grossly disproportionate to the assessments levied against other similarly situated properties. (AR 1036.)
- Eldean Rempel testified that Macaulay’s assumption that the property had been sold and was subject to a binding purchase and sale agreement was a false and incorrect assumption. (AR 720.)

2. The Stokes Property (Parcel No. 27) And Stokes’ Objections To The Reassessment.

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