COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, **DIVISION II**

ENID DUNCAN, ET AL.,

Appellant,

v.

CITY OF EDGEWOOD,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT CITY OF EDGEWOOD

J. Zachary Lell, WSBA No. 28744 OGDEN MURPHY WALLACE City Attorney, City of Edgewood; and

P. Stephen DiJulio, WSBA No. 7139 Lee R. Marchisio, WSBA No. 45351 FOSTER PEPPER PLLC 1111 Third Avenue, Suite 3400 Seattle, Washington 98101-3299

Telephone: (206) 447-4400 Facsimile: (206) 447-9700 Email: dijup@foster.com

marcl@foster.com Attorneys for Respondent City of

Edgewood

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

4. ARGUMENT

Under the "law of the case" doctrine, as more fully discussed in Section 4.3 below, this Court's holdings in *Hasit* are dispositive of this Appeal. *Hasit* affirmed the assessment methodology for LID #1. That holding is binding on the parties in this subsequent reassessment litigation. Because the Council based these reassessments on the upheld assessment methodology in *Hasit*, court review of its determination of special benefits remains limited to (and passes) the statutory "fundamentally wrong basis" and "arbitrary and capricious" reviewe standard. Applying this deferential standard, this Court should affirm the reassessments and dismiss these Appeals.

4.1 Standard of Review

The City Council's assessment decision is reviewed under the "fundamentally wrong basis" and "arbitrary and capricious" review standard. RCW 35.44.250; *Abbenhaus v. City of Yakima*, 89 Wn.2d 855, 858-60, 576 P.2d 888 (1978). The scope of review "is limited to the record of the proceedings before the municipality." *Abbenhaus*, 89 Wn.2d at 859. "Review under the statutory standards should not be an independent consideration of the merits of the issue but rather a

51499487 5 -12-

consideration and evaluation of the decision-making process." *Abbenhaus*, 89 Wn.2d at 859-60.

4.2 Appellants' Peripheral Arguments are Misplaced.

Instead of discussing the standard of review holdings in *Hasit* relevant to this appeal, Appellants seek to divert this Court from applying the statutorily mandated "fundamentally wrong basis" and "arbitrary and capricious" standard to the Council's assessment decision. The City nevertheless addresses these issues before turning to the case that is actually before the Court.

4.2.1 Appellants' "rebuttable presumption" issue does not apply to this reassessment.

Appellants' straw person argument that they have somehow defeated the City's "presumption" of special benefit does not apply to this reassessment. Fundamentally, the City based its finding of special benefit on the Macaulay appraisal and not on any legal presumption of benefit.

The Board concludes that the reassessments based on the Macaulay Study were determined in accordance with the Court of Appeals' standards as set forth in Hasit. The Reassessments reflect properly the Special Benefits resulting from LID #1 improvements. Differing opinions were expressed regarding the Special Benefit to the Appellant Properties; however, the Board concludes that the evidence presented by the owners of the Appellant Properties did not overcome the City Staff/LID recommendations. Given that, the objections of the owners of the Appellant Properties are overruled.

51499487 5 -13-

AR at 14-15 (emphasis added). Further, as discussed below, the Macaulay appraisal's methodology and validity were affirmed by this Court in *Hasit*. These holdings are the binding law of this case. Presumptions and burden shifting are therefore inapplicable in this Appeal.

All parties presented evidence, and the Council considered within its judgment the weight of the evidence. Understanding that they provide the best forum to determine special benefit, the Legislature grants city councils considerable deference when determining benefit:

The judgment of the court **shall** confirm, unless the court shall find from the evidence that such assessment is founded upon a fundamentally wrong basis and/or the decision of the council or other legislative body thereon was arbitrary or capricious.

RCW 35.44.250 (emphasis added). As the Docken Appellants correctly note, this Court must affirm the Council's decision even if it thinks the decision is erroneous: "Where there is room for two opinions, an action taken after due consideration is not arbitrary and capricious even though a reviewing court may believe it to be erroneous." Docken Br. at 22 (quoting *Hasit*, 179 Wn. App. at 935). The City Council met this standard.

Assessor Valuations Are Not Dispositive. Appellants' reliance on county assessor assessed valuation numbers, for example, went to the weight of the evidence before the council. Docken Br. at 4, 36 & 40;

51499487 5 -14-

Stokes Br. at 34. The presumption of correctness of a county assessor's valuation applies only to "review by any court, or appellate body, of a determination of the valuation of property for purposes of taxation...." RCW 84.40.0301 (emphasis added). Here, the LID special assessments are not taxes. See, e.g., City of Seattle v. Rogers Clothing for Men, Inc., 114 Wn.2d 213, 232, 787 P.2d 39 (1990) ("Special assessments for local improvements are not deemed taxes within the uniformity provisions of the state constitution."); McMillan v. City of Tacoma, 26 Wash. 358, 361, 67 P. 68 (1901) ("The theory upon which general taxation proceeds is entirely distinct from that of local assessments."); Philip A. Trautman, Assessments in Washington, 50 Wash. L. Rev. 100, 102 (1965) ("The difference between general and special benefits is critical in distinguishing taxation from local assessment.").

More importantly, the Docken Appellants' assessed values from subsequent years are irrelevant to this appeal because this Court affirmed the Macaulay appraisal's 2011 valuation date in *Hasit. Hasit*, 179 Wn. App. at 941-43. Indeed, as Docken Appellants recognize: "The amount of the special benefits attaching to the property, by reason of the local improvement, is the difference between the fair market value of the property immediately *after* the special benefits have attached, and the fair market value of the property *before* the benefits have attached." Docken

51499487 5 -15-

Br. at 25 (quoting *In re Schmitz*, 44 Wn.2d 429, 434, 268 P.2d 436 (1954) (superseded on other grounds by statute) (emphasis in original)).

Burden Shifting Is Not Dispositive. The Stokes Appellants, alternatively, seem to primarily rely on the unremarkable proposition that legal presumptions implicate a burden shifting analysis. Stokes Br. at 28 (quoting *Indian Trail Trunk Sewer v. City of Spokane*, 35 Wn. App. 840, 841-43, 670 P.2d 675 (1984)). Absent reliance on a legal presumption, however, the fact finder weighs the totality of the evidence. Here, the Council relied on the Macaulay appraisal and Appellants' submissions, not on a legal presumption of benefit. AR at 11-15.

And even if Appellants did rebut a legal presumption of special benefit (which is not at issue), the inquiry does not end. As one of the Docken Appellants' principle cases recognizes: "Even if the presumption of an assessment's validity is successfully rebutted, however, the objector must still show that the assessment was founded on a fundamentally wrong basis or was imposed arbitrarily or capriciously." *Kusky v. City of Goldendale*, 85 Wn. App. 493, 500, 933 P.2d 430 (1997) (citing *Abbenhaus*, 89 Wn.2d at 860-61); *see* Docken Br. at 54 (mistakenly citing, as in their brief below (CP 795:24-796:2), *Kusky* as a Supreme Court

51499487 5 -16-

⁶ Further, because the Macaulay appraisals did not rely on county assessor data for property valuations, any inadvertent reference errors in parcel specific appraisals (which are denied) would not impact or serve as foundation for any of the properties' actual appraisals. *See, e.g.*, Docken Br. at 51.

decision); *see also* Stokes Br. at 31 (citing *Kusky* for general LID principles). As discussed below, Appellants fail to meet this burden on appeal.

<u>Draft Findings And Conclusions Are Irrelevant.</u> Finally, Appellants express concern about draft findings of fact and conclusions of law before the City Council. Docken Br. at 36; Stokes Br. at 17-21. But a draft is only a draft. Just like a court is not bound to an oral ruling or proposed order, the Council is not bound to drafts of proposed ordinances.

It must be remembered that a trial judge's oral decision is necessarily subject to further study and consideration, and may be altered, modified, or completely abandoned. It has no final or binding effect, unless formally incorporated into the findings, conclusions, and judgment.

... [A]ssignments of error directed to statements contained in a trial court's oral decision do not constitute proper assignments of error.... such statements, when at variance with the findings, cannot be used to impeach the findings or judgment.

Ferree v. Doric Co., 62 Wn.2d 561, 566-67, 383 P.2d 900 (1963). Just like a draft order prepared by judicial staff or litigants does not indicate the judge's thinking (much less the standards of law applied), a draft ordinance does not suggest the Council's thinking or the standards of law applied. Appellants' claims to the contrary attempt to add gloss to the actual order in the uncontested administrative record. AR at 14-15.

51499487 5 -17-

Moreover, as the Council's official minutes reflect, the Council ordered staff to prepare the final ordinance confirming the reassessment roll *after* it adopted the recommendations by City staff. AR at 547. It is unclear how a subsequent draft might somehow guide the Council's decision-making process. Indeed, unsatisfied with the subsequent draft ordinance, the Council ordered revisions to reflect the Council's actual findings of fact and conclusions of law. AR at 606. Prior drafts accordingly did not indicate any basis for the Council's decision.

In any case, Appellants' "smoking gun" draft ordinance cites a standard Appellants themselves apply. *Compare* AR at 565-66 (Sept. 30, 2014 Meeting Notice, citing clear, cogent, and convincing standard), *and* AR at 593-94 (Oct. 2, 2014 Council Agenda, citing clear, cogent, and convincing standard), *with* Docken Br. at 13 & 26 (applying clear, cogent, and convincing standard), *and* Stokes Br. at 9-10 (suggesting clear, cogent, and convincing standard). Appellants' purported quote to a "fundamentally wrong basis" standard in a draft ordinance is incorrect and unsupported by the record. *Compare* AR at 593-94, *with* Docken Br. at 35-36 (misquoting AR at 593-94), *and* Stokes Br. at 18-21 (misquoting AR at 593-94). The final ordinance subject to this Appeal, which reflects the Council's actual findings of fact and conclusions of law, establishes

51499487 5 -18-

that the Council did not place any heightened standard of proof or any burden of production on Appellants at all. AR at 14-15.

4.2.2 The City Council's process conformed to the appearance of fairness doctrine.

Under Docken Appellants' appearance of fairness claim, they must show (1) "prejudgment or bias" by a decision maker or (2) an improper ex parte communication regarding the LID special assessments before the Council. *Org. to Pres. Agr. Lands v. Adams Cnty.* (*OPAL*), 128 Wn.2d 869, 885-90, 913 P.2d 793 (1996). They fail to show either. They also failed to preserve their appearance of fairness claim during the LID proceedings.

Waiver On Appeal. Appellants brought only one appearance of fairness claim during the entire LID proceedings, challenging the participation of one council member for being an attorney at the September 17, 2014, reassessment hearing. AR 616. That claim has no basis, was rejected at the reassessment hearing, was not raised on appeal to the Superior Court, and is not raised here. While Docken Appellants objected on other merits grounds at the October 2, 2014, confirmation meeting, appearance of fairness issues were not raised. AR 781.

To the extent Docken Appellants did not raise other appearance of fairness challenges to the City Council, they were waived on appeal to the

51499487 5 -19-

Superior Court and waived on appeal to this Court under RAP 2.5(a). *State v. Morgensen*, 148 Wn. App. 81, 91, 197 P.3d 715 (2008) ("Trial counsel cannot stay silent [regarding an appearance of fairness claim] to preserve an issue for possible future appeal.").⁷

Absence Of Disqualifying Bias. Even if not waived, Docken Appellants' appearance of fairness claim lacks merit. In order to claim disqualifying bias, Docken Appellants must show more than that the procedures in this reassessment proceeding appeared unfair. They must present "evidence of a judge's or decisionmaker's actual or potential bias." *State v. Post*, 118 Wn.2d 596, 619 n.8, 826 P.2d 172 (1992) (reformulating the threshold test for appearance of fairness claims). The Docken Appellants' reliance on their separate civil rights lawsuit against the former city manager to establish bias is therefore misplaced. The Washington Supreme Court has expressly rejected the theory that a staff member's potential bias stemming from a separate civil rights lawsuit initiated by an interested party is somehow "imputed" to the actual

_

51499487 5 -20-

The common law appearance of fairness doctrine arose from the application of judicial standards of conduct to quasi-judicial proceedings. *Smith v. Skagit Cnty.*, 75 Wn.2d 715, 453 P.2d 832 (1969) *holding modified by State v. Post*, 118 Wn.2d 596, 826 P.2d 172 (1992). Judicial standards of review require the same rejection of this claim. *See* RAP 2.5(a). And in any event, this is not a constitutional (due process) claim for purposes of RAP 2.5(a)(3). *City of Bellevue v. King Cty. Boundary Review Bd.*, 90 Wn.2d 856, 863, 586 P.2d 470 (1978) ("Our appearance of fairness doctrine, though related to concerns dealing with due process considerations, is not constitutionally based."). Accordingly, Appellants' scattershot due process claims fail to cognizably allege a jurisdictional challenge to LID #1. *Tiffany Family Trust Corp. v. City of Kent*, 155 Wn.2d 225, 235, 119 P.3d 325 (2005).

decision making body. *Post*, 118 Wn.2d at 617-19. Any purported policy preference by the city manager in favor of the LID is similarly irrelevant and unsupported. Docken Appellants do not cite any evidence that the city manager held a prejudgment bias in favor of parcel specific assessments. At most, they allege "ideological or policy leanings" in favor of the LID. These allegations are insufficient to support a "personal bias" theory. *OPAL*, 128 Wn.2d at 890.

And even if policy preferences were relevant (they are not), again the city manager's alleged bias would not be automatically "imputed" to the City Council. *Post*, 118 Wn.2d at 617-19. The appearance of fairness doctrine ensures decision makers are free from bias. Post, 118 Wn.2d at 617-19; see also Bunko v. City of Puyallup Civil Serv. Comm'n, 95 Wn. App. 495, 504, 975 P.2d 1055 (1999) (dismissing appearance of fairness claim challenging "demonstrated where party had not that any commissioner had a personal stake in the outcome of the hearing.") (emphasis added). Here, the City Council, and not the city manager, was the decision making body in this reassessment proceeding.⁸

-

51499487 5 -21-

Any post-hearing objection or presentation of evidence to disqualify any of the councilmembers would also have been time barred. RCW 42.36.080; *OPAL*, 128 Wn.2d at 888 ("Because OPAL did not object to Schlagel's participation at that time or before the commissioners made the final decision to issue the UUP, it cannot now seek to disqualify him on that basis."). To the extent Docken Appellants' claim seeks to defeat a quorum or necessary majority of the City Council for bias or failure to disclose bias, their claim is statutorily barred by RCW 42.36.090 and again time barred under

Absence Of Improper Ex Parte Communication. The Docken Appellants also fail to allege—much less demonstrate—an improper ex parte communication. In *Organization to Preserve Agricultural Lands v. Adams County (OPAL)*, the Washington Supreme Court held that the existence of 63 long distance phone calls between a county commissioner and a solid waste management company was insufficient to demonstrate that any of those 63 communications involved the company's landfill use permit that was pending approval before the county commission. *OPAL*, 128 Wn.2d at 887. The challengers offered no evidence to suggest that the communications concerned the permit, as opposed to other legislative or administrative matters that were of concern to the solid waste company (which decisions are not subject to the appearance of fairness doctrine).

Here, Docken Appellants' claim is even more speculative, failing to cite any evidence in the administrative record establishing the city manager even attended an executive session (none exists). Docken Appellants similarly have not made any showing that the city manager was involved in any prohibited communications. *OPAL*, 128 Wn.2d at 887.

Moreover, the City Council was independently advised throughout the entire reassessment proceedings on LID #1, executive sessions, and

RCW 42.36.080 for failing to challenge any Councilmember's participation at the time of the hearing.

51499487 5 -22-

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